A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The trial court erred in: 

1. Granting Medina's Application for Writ of Review; 

2. Deciding the merits of the appeal without affording Skinner the 

opportunity to brief the issues on appeal; and 

3. Overturning the decision ofthe Medina Civil Service 

Commission with respect to the back pay component of the 

award to Skinner. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Was there sufficient basis to grant the Writ of Review? 

2. Was Skinner deprived of due process by the lower court deciding 

the merits ofthe appeal without affording Skinner the opportunity 

to briefthe issues? 

3. Did the Medina Civil Service Commission have the authority to 

award Skinner back pay? 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

After fifteen years of service with the Medina City Police Department, 

Lt. Roger Skinner was terminated in February 2006. CP 9 at 3.1 

Skinner timely appealed his dismissal to the Medina Civil Service 

Commission (the Commission). CP 9 at 3.2. On December 21,2012, 

after several years oflegal proceedings, the Commission entered its 

Findings, Conclusions and Order. CP 8 through CP 21. The 

Commission determined that Skinner had violated certain police 

department standards but it also determined that the department had 

violated its own Code of Conduct which required the application of 

progressive discipline. CP 17 through CP 19. The Commission ordered 

that the discharge of Lt. Skinner be set aside and that he be reinstated 

and awarded back pay. I CP 20 at 6.1, CP 21 at 6.3 

The City did not seek review ofthe order of reinstatement - its 

application for a Writ of Review, dated February 14, 2013, is expressly 

limited to the issue of whether or not the Medina Civil Service 

Commission was empowered to award back pay to Skinner. CP 3 at 

4.3 and 4.4. 

I The Commission also ordered a sixty-day unpaid suspension and a demotion to the rank 
of patrol officer but these are not at issue in this appeal. CP 21 at 6.3 
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The Superior Court signed its Memorandum Opinion on July 25, 

2013, over five months after Medina filed its application (CP 68 

through CP 72). The Court did not apprise the parties of its decision 

or enter the decision into the Court's file until October 1,2013, seven 

and one half months after the application was filed and two months 

after the decision was originally signed. CP 73. 

In its Order (CP 68 to CP 72), the Court did not analyze or give 

any consideration to the standard of review applicable to a Superior 

Court decision to grant a Writ of Review. The Superior Court instead 

omitted this critical step and embarked on a sua sponte analysis of the 

applicable civil service statute to determine the merits of the appeal, 

avoiding any deference to the Commission and Skinner's right to brief 

the merits. In this manner, the Court improperly overturned the 

Commission's back pay award to Skinner. CP 72. 

D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Medina filed an application for a Writ of Review, arguing that 

the Civil Service Commission, by allowing a back pay award, exceeded its 

authority in interpreting the Civil Service Statutes. The Superior Court did 

not comply with the statutory procedures or apply the applicable standard 
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ofreview in its consideration of Medina's Application for a Writ of 

Review. Instead, the Superior Court leap-frogged right into the merits of 

the appeal and nullified a significant aspect ofthe decision of the Civil 

Service Commission. The Court did not comply with RCW 7.16.040 or 

provide Skinner the opportunity to brief the merits of the appeal. Even if 

the Superior Court had followed appropriate procedures before addressing 

the merits ofthe appeal, its decision is contrary to established law that 

decisions of a civil service commission are afforded deference, as is its 

interpretation of the civil service statutes, unless the commission acts 

contrary to law, which is not the case in this matter. A broad array of 

precedent supports the Commission's back pay award. For these reasons, 

the Superior Court Memorandum Opinion dated July 25,2012 and the 

Order's contained therein should be reversed and vacated. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. Standard of Review 

There are three standards of review applicable to this appeal. First 

is the standard of review to be applied by this Court in reviewing the 

decision of the Superior Court below; the second is the standard of review 

applied to an application for a Writ of Review; the third is the standard of 

review applied to reviewing decisions of a civil service commission. 
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The Washington Supreme Court has clearly and consistently stated 

the standard to be applied when this Court reviews the decision below: 

"The superior court's decision to issue a writ is reviewed de novo." 

Sunderland Family Treatment Servs. v. City of Pasco, 127 Wash.2d 782, 

788, 903 P .2d 986 (1995); City of Seattle v. Holifield, 170 Wn.2d 230, 240 

(2010). 

The Washington Supreme Court has also addressed the standard of 

review that the Superior Court and this Court should apply when 

considering an application for a statutory writ of review: 

The legislature has established factors governing whether a writ of 
review should issue. See RCW 7.16.040. Two independent prongs 
must be satisfied before a court can grant a statutory writ of 
review. The writ shall issue when an inferior tribunal has (1) 
exceeded its authority or acted illegally, and (2) no appeal or any 
plain, speedy, and adequate remedy at law exists. Unless both 
elements are present, the superior court has no jurisdiction for 
reVIew. 

(emphasis added, citation omitted). Holifield at 240. The Court went on to 

clarify that the term "acted illegally" means that: 

an inferior tribunal, board or officer (1) has committed an obvious 
error that would render further proceedings useless; (2) has 
committed probable error and the decision substantially alters the 
status quo or substantially limits the freedom of the party to act; or 
(3) has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of 
judicial proceedings as to call for the revisory jurisdiction of an 
appellate court. 
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Hol~field at 244-45. 

Finally, the standard of review applicable to review of civil service 

commission decisions has also been addressed by Washington courts. In 

City of Seattle v. Werner, 163 Wn. App 899 (Div. 1 2011), this Court, 

citing Hilltop Terrace Homeowner's Ass'n v. Island County, 126 Wn.2d 

22, 29-30, 891 P.2d 29 (1995), held: 

The correct appellate standard ofreview ofa commission's 
decision under a writ of review is controlled by RCW 7.16.120. 
Hilltop, 126 Wn.2d at 29. Under RCW 7 .16.120, we review de 
novo whether the decision below was contrary to law and whether 
the factual detenninations are supported by substantial evidence. 
Hilltop, 126 Wn.2d at 29. Substantial evidence is the existence of a 
sufficient quantity of evidence to persuade a fair-minded, rational 
person ofthe truth ofthe finding. Hilltop, 126 Wn.2d at 34. Under 
this standard, an appellate court is not to substitute its own 
judgment for that of the fact finder. Hilltop, 126Wn.2d at 34. 

In this case, Medina has expressly not appealed the factual 

detenninations of the civil service commission. Its appeal relates solely to 

whether the civil service commission's decision was contrary to law, a 

matter which a Court rules on de novo but only if the standard ofreview 

applicable to statutory writs is first satisfied. Furthermore, even if the 

Court has de novo authority to review, a civil service commission's 

interpretation of civil service law is entitled to deference. Crippen v. 

Bellevue, 61 Wn. App. 251, 259 (Div. 1 1991). 
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2. There Was Not A Sufficient Basis to Grant the Writ Of Review 

In accordance with Holifield: 

The writ shall issue when an inferior tribunal has (1) exceeded its 
authority or acted illegally, and (2) no appeal or any plain, speedy, 
and adequate remedy at law exists. Unless both elements are 
present, the superior court has no jurisdiction for review. 

(Emphasis added). Holifield at 240. 

In this case, neither of the elements is present and the Writ of 

Review should not have been granted. 

Putting aside, for the moment, the issue of "illegality" under the 

fIrst prong ofthe test, the City of Medina has standard appeal rights 

provided by RCW 2.06.030 and the Rules of Appellate Procedure. Those 

provide a "plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law". Because of this, 

Medina cannot satisfY the second prong ofthe test and, therefore, was not 

entitled to relief through a statutory writ of review. 

The adequate remedy at law, authorized by RCW 2.06.030 and the 

Rules of Appellate Procedure, provide Medina with a right to appeal the 

fmaljudgment in this case. As of now, there is a civil service commission 

order but that has not been reduced to judgment because a hearing is 

required to determine the type and amount of damages to which Skinner is 

entitled pursuant to the Order of the Commission. When a final judgment 
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is (finally) entered in this case, it may present several questions for 

reVIew: 

1. Is the civil service commission decision supported by 
substantial evidence? 

2. Is the back pay award "legal"? 
3. Is Skinner entitled to double damages in accordance with RCW 

49.52.070? 
4. Is Skinner entitled to attorney's fees based on his claim for 

wages owed in accordance with RCW 49.48.030? 
5. Factually, is the amount of the award supported by the 

evidence offered by the expert economic witnesses? 
6. Other issues? 

Allowing Medina to proceed under a Writ of Review is a waste of 

judicial resources because Medina will have the opportunity to appear 

again before this court to argue about the back pay issue and other issues 

that may arise upon entry of a final judgment. Because Medina has 

adequate appeal rights, the second prong of the requirements ofRCW 

7.16.040, as explained by the Holifield court, has not been satisfied. 

Therefore, a Writ of Review should not have been granted by the Superior 

Court. If the Superior Court was without authority to grant the Writ, then 

the balance of its opinion has no foundation. For this reason alone, the 

Superior Court's Opinion and the Orders contained therein should be 

reversed and vacated. 

In addition to the foregoing, in order to properly grant a statutory 

Writ of Review, the Superior Court had to determine that the Commission 
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exceeded its authority or that its decision was illegal. The Commission 

was well within its statutory authority (jurisdiction) to modify the 

discipline imposed by Medina - that is precisely the power granted to it by 

RCW 4.12.090 (at CP39). The Commission did not exceed its authority. 

As argued below, the back pay award is supported by statutory and case 

law and, therefore, is not "illegal". Thus, the first prong of the standard 

for issuance of a statutory writ of review has also not been satisfied. 

Both statutory requirements ofRCW 7.16.040 must be met to 

support the grant ofa Writ of Review. In this case neither element was 

satisfied; the Writ should not have been granted and the lower court's 

Opinion and the Orders contained therein should be reversed and vacated. 

3. Even If The Superior Court Had Grounds To Issue The Writ 
Of Review, It Proceeded In A Manner Contrary To Law 
Thereby Preventing Skinner From Properly Briefing The 
Merits Of The Issues On Appeal 

The statutes authorizing Writs of Appeal contemplate that the issuance 

of the Writ is the first step of the appeal process. The applicable statutes 

are as follows: 

RCW 7.16.060 
Writ, to whom directed. 
The writ may be directed to the inferior tribunal, board or officer, 
or to any other person having the custody of the record or 
proceedings to be certified. When directed to a tribunal the clerk, if 
there be one, must return the writ with the transcript required. 
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RCW 7.16.070 
Contents of writ. 
The writ of review must command the party to whom it is directed 
to certify fully to the court issuing the writ, at a specified time and 
place, a transcript of the record and proceedings (describing or 
referring to them with convenient certainty), that the same may be 
reviewed by the court, and requiring the party, in the meantime, to 
desist from further proceedings in the matter to be reviewed. 

RCW 7.16.100 
Service of writ. 
The writ may be served as follows, except where different 
directions respecting the mode of service thereof are given by the 
court granting it: 

(1) Where it is directed to a person or persons by name or by his 
or her official title or titles, or to a municipal corporation, it must 
be served upon each officer or other person to whom it is directed, 
or upon the corporation, in the same manner as a summons. 

(2) Where it is directed to a court, or to the judges of a court, 
having a clerk appointed pursuant to law, service upon the court or 
the judges thereof may be made by filing the writ with the clerk. 

The Superior Court did not issue a Writ of Review in this case; 

rather it "granted" the Writ of Review and summarily decided the merits 

of the appeal. Contrary to the procedure envisioned by the above statutes, 

the Superior Court decided the merits of the appeal without the benefit of 

a certified record. Its decision was based on a copy of the Civil Service 

Commission decision provided by the respondent Medina. This Court is 

likewise burdened; it is being asked to decide this case based on clerk's 

papers certified by the Superior Court however that trial court certification 

is tainted because the "certified clerk's papers" include a portion of the 
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record ofthe Civil Service Commission; a record that was never properly 

certified. 

What should have happened, and what Skinner reasonably 

expected, was that the Court would make a decision solely on the 

application for the Writ. RCW 7.16.070, using mandatory language, states 

that the Writ must be directed to the party that controls the record of 

proceedings. In this case, there is no Writ - simply a decision on the 

merits of the appeal. If the Court had properly granted the Writ, then the 

Court would have directed the inferior tribunal to deliver a certified record 

and directed the party seeking review (Medina) to apply to the clerk of the 

Court for a case schedule. Even if the appeal had been decided on a 

summary judgment calendar, that would have provided Skinner with at 

least a 28-day briefing schedule, not the 10-day schedule set out in 

Medina's Application for Writ of Review. Furthennore, Skinner would 

have had the opportunity to brief the merits of the appeal, separate and 

apart from his arguments opposing the application for a Writ of Review. If 

proper procedures had been followed by the Superior Court, Medina 

would have submitted a brief to the reviewing judge, followed by a 

response from Skinner and a reply from Medina, all after the Writ had 

been granted. None ofthat happened here and Skinner has been prejudiced 
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by the Superior Court's failure to allow him the opportunity to properly 

brief the merits of this appeal. 

4. Even If The Superior Court Had Properly Granted A Writ Of 
Review, And Properly Allowed Skinner To Brief The Merits 
Of The Appeal, The Lower Court's Decision On The Merits Is 
Contrary To Law 

[T]he judiciary's role in reviewing action taken by the [Civil 

Service] Commission is severely limited. Greig v. Metzler, 33 Wn.App. 

223, 226 (Div. 2 1982). This statement summarizes the cautious approach 

that the Court should undertake when reviewing the actions of a civil 

service commission, an apolitical body of citizens appointed to oversee 

employment decisions concerning its first responders. These unpaid local 

citizens were given broad authority by the legislature so that internal 

politics and other political considerations would not interfere with the 

orderly and effective management of emergency responders. Civil 

Service, Introduction, Municipal Research Services Center ofWA, 

(www.mrsc.org/subjects/personnel/civserv.aspx). 

Our appellate court has repeatedly held that a local civil service 

commission's interpretation of the civil service law is entitled to deference 

by a court. Crippen, et. al v. The City ~r Bellevue, et. ai, 61 Wn.App. 251, 

260 (Div. 1 1991); Pool v. Omak, 36 Wn.App 844, 848 (Div. 3 1984). If 

RCW 41.12.090 is subject to more than one interpretation, the 
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interpretation of the Civil Service Commission should be afforded 

deference by this Court. 

RCW 41.12.090 reads, in pertinent part: 

The commission upon such investigation, in lieu of affirming 
the removal, suspension, demotion or discharge may modify the 
order of removal, suspension, demotion or discharge by 
directing a suspension, without pay, for a given period, and 
subsequent restoration to duty, or demotion in classification, 
grade or pay. 

In the CSC Order, the Medina Civil Service Commission decided 

that in lieu of discharge, it would modify the order of discharge by 

directing a suspension, without pay, for a given period (February 16 to 

April 16, 2006) with subsequent restoration to duty with a demotion in 

classification grade or pay and awarding back pay. The CSC Order is 

entirely consistent with the statutory language ofRCW 41.12.090 quoted 

above. There is nothing in the statute that prohibits the action taken by the 

Commission. 

If the Commission violated an express provision of the statute, the 

Court could find that the Commission acted illegally. However, to the 

extent the Court engages in the subjective exercise of inferring legislative 

intent to support its finding of illegality, the Court is not granting 

sufficient deference to the Commission. 
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In its effort to infer legislative intent, the Court analyzed two 

sentences in a way that suggested an ambiguity that needed to be resolved. 

However those two sentences can be read in a harmonious and 

complementary manner that does not suggest an ambiguity. The rules of 

statutory construction require an approach that frrst attempts to harmonize 

the statute as a whole. "We look frrst to the plain language of the 

provisions at issue; and we strive to read them harmoniously to give effect 

to all, avoiding an incongruous reading potentially nullifying other 

provisions." Chinn v. City of Spokane, 293 P.3d 401,404 (Wash. App. 

Div. 2 2013). "Where one provision treats a subject in general terms and 

another treats the same subject in a more detailed way, the specific 

prevails over the general absent a contrary legislative intent." Id. 

The first sentence analyzed by the Court provides: 

If [the Commission] shall find that the removal, suspension, or 
demotion was made for political or religious reasons, or was not 
made in good faith for cause, shall order the immediate 
reinstatement or reemployment of such person in the office, 
place, position or employment from which such person was 
removed, suspended, demoted or discharged, which reinstatement 
shall, ifthe commission so provides in its discretion, be 
retroactive, and entitle such person to payor compensation from 
the time of such removal, suspension, demotion or discharge. 

The Court contrasts that sentence with the following: 

The commission upon such investigation, in lieu of affirming 
the removal, suspension, demotion or discharge may modify 
the order of removal, suspension, demotion or discharge by 
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directing a suspension, without pay, for a given period, and 
subsequent restoration to duty, or demotion in classification, 
grade or pay. 

These two sentences can be read "harmoniously to give effect to all". The 

first sentence provides the civil service commission with a roadmap in the 

specific instance where it finds that the discipline "was made for political 

or religious reasons, or was not made in good faith for cause." In that 

specific case, the sentence first quoted above mandates reinstatement. 

Because the legislature mandated reinstatement in that case, it was 

compelled to clarify to the Civil Service Commission that back pay was 

nevertheless discretionary. 

The second sentence quoted above provides the civil service 

commission with a roadmap if it decides some discipline is warranted but 

disagrees with the precise discipline imposed by the appointing authority. 

In that case, the legislature was not mandating reinstatement; it was 

providing the civil service commission with the authority to craft a 

disciplinary remedy appropriate to the particular circumstances. Because 

the legislature is not mandating reinstatement in this scenario, it had no 

need to tell the civil service commission about the discretionary nature of 

the back pay award; that discretion is implicit. 
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Because these two provisions are focused on entirely different 

situations and can be read together in a harmonious manner, it is improper 

to contrast the two in order to suggest an ambiguity. 

In this case, because the Commission decided some degree of 

discipline was warranted, it followed the direction of the second sentence.

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