COURT OF APPEALS DIV I STATE OF WASHINGTON 2014 FEB 26 PM 2: 49

No. 711571

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROGER L. SKINNER,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF MEDINA,

Respondent.

MEDINA'S RESPONSE BRIEF

Greg A. Rubstello, WSBA #6271 Attorneys for Respondent OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE, P.L.L.C. 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3500 Seattle, Washington 98164-2008 Tel: 206.447.7000/Fax: 206.447.0215

A.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
B.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
C.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
D.	ARGUMENT
E.	CONCLUSION24
APPE	NDIX

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page		
Cases		
Allen v. Public Utility District No. 1, 55 Wn.2d 226, 347 P.2d 53923		
Crippen v. Bellevue, 61 Wn. App. 251, 810 P.2d 5016, 17		
Crosby v. Spokane County, 137 Wn.2d 296, 971 P.2d 3223		
Dumage v. Seattle, 19 Wn. App. 935, 578 P.2d 87510		
Dunaway v. Social and Health Services, 90 Wn.2d 1124, 12, 19		
Greig v. Metzler, 33 Wn. App. 223, 653 P.2d 134616		
Hayes v. Trulock, 51 Wn.App. 795, 755 P.2d 83020		
Kloss v. Honeywell, 77 Wn. App. 294, 890 P.2d 48020		
National Electrical Contractors Association v. Riveland, 138 Wn.2d		
9, 978 P.2d 48117		
Poole v. City of Omak, 36 Wn.App. 844		
Skinner v. Medina, 172 Wn.2d 1009, 259 P.3d 110820		
Snoqualmie Police Association v. City of Snoqualmie, 165 Wn.		
App. 895, 273 P.3d 983		
Union Bay Pres. Coal. v. Cosmos Dev. & Admin. Corp., 127 Wn.2d		
614, 902 P.2d 124723		
Rules and Regulations		
Medina Municipal Code Ch. 2.20		
RCW 2.06.030		
RCW 34.04.010(1)		
RCW 41.06.220(2)		
RCW 41.12		
RCW 41.12.0901, 6, 7, 8, 11, 12, 14, 15, 18, 19, 21, 22		
RCW 7.16		
RCW 7.16.0406, 7, 15		

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

The Respondent ("Medina") does not seek review and makes no assignment of error.

Issues Pertaining to Appellant Skinner's Assignments of Error

1. Regarding the requirements for a writ of review.

Where a police civil service commission established under the provisions of RCW 41.12 issues a final decision adverse to the employer following an investigation and hearing under RCW 41.12.090, does the employer have a right to appeal or other plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law disqualifying the employer from meeting the requirements of RCW 7.16.040 for a statutory writ of review?

2. Regarding the legality of the Commission's remedial award of back pay and benefits.

Where a dismissed police department employee is reinstated by the Medina Civil Service Commission to a lower position classification and pay grade following a 60-day suspension, does the Commission have the statutory authority to award the demoted employee back pay and benefits?

3. Regarding the need for the court to issue an actual writ.

Where a superior court judge approves a writ application under RCW 41.12, and in reaching that decision has decided a question of law allowing the court to order the ultimate relief requested by the applicant and leaving no contested factual issue or legal issue dependent upon contested facts not before the court for resolution of the issue, is the court required to issue a writ for a complete record of the proceedings before the lower tribunal, board or officer, and set the matter on its trial calendar, in order to allow an aggrieved party opportunity to reargue the issue on summary judgment?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Medina Civil Service Commission ("the Commission") following a second investigation and hearing with regard to the appeal by Appellant ("Skinner") of the disciplinary termination of his employment from the Medina Police Department on February 15, 2006 (**CP 9**)¹, issued written "Findings, Conclusions and Order" dated December 21, 2012 (**CP 1-22**) ("the Commission's Decision"). The Commission originally heard

¹ The civil service commission appeal of Roger Skinner is back before this court for the third time. **CP 9:10-14**. See *Skinner v. Medina*, No. 66120-5-1 (unreported opinion), review denied 173 Wn.2d 1031, 274 P.3d 374 (2012) (Table); and *Skinner v. Medina*, 146 Wn. App. 171, 188 P.3d 550 (2008), affirmed at 168 Wn.2d 845, 232 P.3d 558 (2010).

and affirmed the discharge of Skinner almost seven years earlier on September 1, 2006 (CP 9:7-9). The Commission, chaired by Commissioner Jorgensen the only remaining commissioner from 2006 (CP 8:15-18), concluded that there was no evidence of religious or political motive for the termination. The Commission further concluded that Medina acted in good faith in imposing discipline on Skinner (CP 13:1-6). The Commission also concluded there was just cause for discipline. The Commission however, also concluded that upon application of standards for progressive discipline, different (meaning less severe) discipline was warranted (CP 13:13-16).

The Commission set aside the discharge (CP 20: 24-25). The discipline ordered by the Commission was to: 1) suspend Skinner for sixty (60) days; and 2) demote Skinner in rank and pay from that of a lieutenant to that of a patrol officer. The Commission further ordered that Skinner was "entitled" to back pay and benefits as a patrol officer at the mid-level of the police officer pay scale, until he would otherwise have been unable to serve as a result of his health condition (CP 21:3-8).

Medina made a timely motion for **reconsideration** by the Commission of the order for back pay and benefits (**CP 24:14-15**). The Commission in its "Order Denying City Motion for Partial {GAR1148428,DOCX:1/00093,050019/}

Reconsideration" stated that "[T]he Commission is fully authorized under chapter 42.12 RCW and the City's enabling ordinance to establish remedies upon determination that a discharged employee should be partially reinstated." In support of this statement, the Commission cited to Poole v. City of Omak, 36 Wn.App. 844 (1984) (affirming a commission's authority to increase the penalty imposed by the employer) and Dunaway v. Social and Health Servs., 90 Wn.2d 112 (1978) (authorizing suspensions longer than 30 days) (CP 24:19-21).²

Medina then made timely application with the King County Superior Court for a writ of review to allow for the judicial review of the inclusion of the back pay and benefits remedy in the Commission's Decision and the Commission's denial of Medina's motion for partial reconsideration (**CP 1-31**). The application for writ of review included as exhibits the Affidavit of the Medina City Attorney (**CP 5-6**), the Commission's Decision and Order Denying the City's Motion for Partial Reconsideration and was supported by a Supplemental Legal Memorandum (**CP 32-41**).

² The Commission's citation to *Dunaway v. Social and Health Servs.*, is curious; a point more fully developed in the Argument made in this Response Brief, because the employee's claim for back pay and benefits was denied by the court when the employee was not fully exonerated of all charges on appeal to the State Personnel Board. {GAR1148428.DOCX;1/00093.050019/}

Skinner served and filed briefing in opposition to Medina's application for writ of review (**CP 42-44**). Medina filed reply briefing (**CP 49-54**) and a supplemental reply (**CP 55-56**), to which briefing Skinner filed a "sur-sur-reply" (**CP 65-66**). The court scheduled a hearing to hear oral argument on the merits of the application. Skinner's counsel appeared at the hearing and gave oral argument by telephone (**CP 67**).

The Superior Court entered a MEMORANDUM OPINION granting Medina's application for a writ of review and ordering that the Commission's decision be modified to remove the portion of the Commission's remedy entitling Skinner to back pay and benefits (CP 68-72 and 105-109). The court's analysis at CP 106-109 is incorporated herein by this reference. The court followed up the memorandum opinion by a written ORDER (CP 73). Skinner responded with a motion for reconsideration providing the court with additional briefing (CP 74-81). Medina responded to the motion (CP 82-90). The superior court denied the motion for reconsideration (CP 101 and 103). Skinner timely filed a notice of appeal of both the order granting the City's writ application and the order denying Skinner's motion for reconsideration (CP 102).

C. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Medina's entitlement to judicial review under RCW 7.16.

Medina was entitled to judicial review of the Commission's remedial order entitling Skinner to back pay and benefits by statutory writ of review under RCW 7.16 and to the relief requested. Medina provided the superior court with the grounds for the writ under RCW 7.16.040. First, it is not disputed by Skinner that the Commission made a quasijudicial decision. Second, Skinner's argument that the Commission acted legally and within the remedial authority provided for in RCW 41.12 and in Medina Municipal Code Ch. 2.20 is neither supported by the statutory criteria for entitlement to back pay and benefits in RCW 41.12.090, nor by the language of the enabling authority for the establishment of the Commission. No rule adopted by the Commission providing for the remedy of back pay and benefits in cases where a termination is modified to a suspension or the length of a suspension is lessened has been argued by Skinner to either the superior court or to this Court in his opening brief. The Commission acted illegally and outside its statutory authority in making the back pay and benefits remedy under the circumstances here, that is, Skinner's demotion by the Commission following an unpaid suspension.

Third, Medina, contrary to the argument in the Opening Brief, had no plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law. RCW 41.12.090 authorizes an appeal only by *the accused* after the Commission enters its written decision. The Commission also is not an agency subject to the Administrative Procedures Act in RCW 35.34 Judicial review of the Commission's Decision by statutory writ under RCW 7.16 was the only avenue for judicial review available to Medina. The three requirements for judicial review by statutory writ of review as set out in RCW 7.16.040 have been met.

2. The modifications made by the Commission to the discipline of Skinner did not give the Commission the discretion to award Skinner back pay and benefits.

RCW 41.12.090 gives the Commission authority after investigating the discharge of an employee to:

- a. affirm the discharge; or
- b. order the immediate reinstatement of the employee in the office, place, position or employment from which such person was discharged, but only if it finds the discharge was for political or religious reasons, or not made in good faith for cause; or

c. in lieu of affirming the discharge, modify the discharge by directing a suspension, without pay, for a given period, and subsequent restoration to duty, or demotion in classification, grade, or pay.

Consistent with its authority described in c. above, the Commission in lieu of affirming the discharge of Skinner, directed a suspension without pay, and a demotion in rank and pay. Only with respect to b. above, does RCW 41.12.090 give the Commission the discretion to make the reinstatement retroactive and to entitle the employee to pay or compensation from the time of such...discharge.

The superior court's analysis of Commission authority under the provisions of RCW 41.12.090 is spot on correct (CR 105-109).

3. <u>Issuance of an actual writ before judgment was unnecessary.</u>

The actual issuance of a writ to bring before the reviewing court the record of the Commission proceedings it needed for review of the claimed illegality and entry of judgment was unnecessary. The authenticity of the Commission's Decision and Order Denying Medina's Motion for Reconsideration attached as exhibits to the writ application was and remains undisputed. The City's claim that the Commission exceeded its jurisdictional authority and acted illegally by including a remedy of entitlement to back pay and benefits in the Decision presented a {GAR1148428.DOCX;1/00093.050019/}

question of law that did not require the burden of preparation of the hearing record. It would not have added anything to any party's argument or to the court's decision making and there is no claim by Skinner that the issuance of a writ was necessary for anything but additional time for briefing the same legal issues already decided by the court, a second time. Skinner, by written responses to the City's claim prior to oral argument, the making of oral argument and the additional briefing in support of his motion for reconsideration, had ample opportunity to argue against the merits of Medina's claim and fair hearing on the matter. The Orders of the Superior Court should be affirmed and Skinner's appeal dismissed.

D. ARGUMENT

1. Medina had no right of direct appeal under any statute or other plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law.

Medina had no right of appeal under RCW 41.21.090, the statute under which the Commission exercised authority to hear Skinner's appeal of his dismissal from employment and modify the discipline. Only the accused is allowed an appeal under the statute. Even Skinner does not dispute this point (**CR 58**). Case law has clarified that the Administrative Procedures Act in RCW 35.34 is not applicable to a police civil service commission. The Act is limited to "state agencies" and a local civil service

commission is not a state agency. *Dumage v. Seattle*, 19 Wn. App. 935, 578 P.2d 875 (1978); and RCW 34.04.010(1). So what right of appeal or other plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law is there?

Skinner for the first time in his opening brief ("OB") argues that Medina had appeal rights under RCW 2.06.030 and the Rules of Appellate Procedure (OB 7). He mistakenly asserts that the Commission's Decision would be reduced to an appealable judgment under RCW 2.06.030 and the RAPs once the Commission determined the specific amount of *damages* to which Skinner is entitled pursuant to the Commission's Decision. This argument is without merit.

Although RCW 2.06.030 and the RAPs would provide this Court with jurisdiction to review any decision of the superior court reducing the amount of a back pay remedy determined by the Commission to a judgment, the statute and RAPs provide no direct appeal from the Commission's Decision at issue, nor do they provide any plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law to Medina. Moreover, the superior court could not enter a judgment based upon the back pay amount determined by the Commission unless the back pay remedy amount was due and payable by the City. The statute and RAPs do not provide Medina with any direct right to appeal the Commission's determination of the amount

of back pay and benefits to which Skinner in the view of the Commission was entitled.

The City sought direct review of that portion of the Commission's Decision entitling Skinner to back pay and benefits. A statutory writ was the City's single avenue for seeking judicial review of that determination.

- 2. A Civil Service Commission after modifying the dismissal of an employee under the provisions of RCW 41.12.090 by imposing a suspension and demotion in rank and pay rate, does not have the authority to award back pay and benefits to the employee.
 - a. RCW 41.12.090 provisions and analysis.

RCW 41.12.090 is the enabling authority for the Commission. It provides authority to review a disciplinary action against a Medina police department employee and to enter an order affirming the disciplinary action, or modify the discipline in lieu of affirming the discipline as imposed by the employer, or to fully reinstate the employee with the discretion to award back pay if and only if it shall find that the removal was made for political or religious reasons, or was not made in good faith for cause.

Here, the Commission issued an order modifying the discipline after a finding of good faith cause for discipline of the employee, in lieu of the employee's discharge from employment. So far, so good; however, the Commission went beyond its jurisdiction acting illegally by requiring back pay and benefits to be paid to the demoted employee. See Section 6.3 of the Commission's Order. The modification of discipline by the Commission did not "...order the immediate reinstatement or reemployment of such person in the office, place, position or employment from which such person was removed, suspended, demoted or discharged." Thus, the suspension and demotion at issue is key to the analysis and means that the Commission lacked discretion to award back pay and benefits to Skinner.

Unfortunately, there is no reported decision under RCW 41.12.090 on the issue of whether or not an employee not fully exonerated and not fully reinstated to their prior employment is entitled to an award of back pay and benefits. There is however a reported case under a different statute (RCW 41.06.220(2)) interpreting that statute as to whether or not a state civil service employee was entitled to back pay and benefits after the state personnel board returned a terminated employee to his position following a period of unpaid suspension imposed by the board. The case is *Dunaway v. Social and Health Services*, 90 Wn.2d 112 (1978). After rejecting the employee's argument that the board lacked authority to modify the discipline, the State Supreme Court then rejected the [GAR1148428.DOCX:1/00093.050019/]

employee's argument that he was entitled to back pay and benefits even though the board imposed a period of suspension. RCW 41.06.220(2) provides that:

Any employee, when *fully reinstated* after appeal, shall be guaranteed all employee rights and benefits, including back pay, sick leave, vacation accrual, retirement and OASDI credits.

(Italics added)

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